U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office

Reliability of visual surveys and eDNA sampling to detect a new invasion of New Zealand mudsnail

2023 Annual Report



Jennifer Poirier and Julianne Harris U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office Vancouver, WA 98683 **On the cover:** New Zealand mudsnails clinging to cobble in the Upper Columbia River near Mesa, Washington, photo by Jen Poirier.

Disclaimers

The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.

The mention of trade names or commercial products in this report does not constitute endorsement or recommendation for use by the federal government.

The correct citation for this report is:

Poirier, J. and J. Harris. 2024. Reliability of visual surveys and eDNA sampling to detect a new invasion of New Zealand mudsnail. Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office 2023 Annual Report.

Reliability of visual surveys and eDNA sampling to detect a new invasion of New Zealand mudsnail

2023 ANNUAL REPORT

Jennifer Poirier and Julianne Harris

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office 1211 SE Cardinal Court, Suite 100 Vancouver, WA 98683

Abstract

Early detection and monitoring of aquatic invasive species (AIS) are vital in preventing their establishment and reducing their spread in aquatic habitats. The New Zealand mudsnail (NZMS), Potamopyrgus antipodarum, is an invasive aquatic snail that poses a threat to National Fish Hatcheries (NFHs). Conventional monitoring techniques may not reliably detect new infestations of NZMS due to the species' small size and cryptic coloration. Environmental DNA (eDNA) is becoming an increasingly common tool for early detection of AIS, though few studies have quantitatively evaluated the efficacy of eDNA or other early detection techniques for NZMS. In this study, we performed paired eDNA sampling and visual surveys from 15 sites at five waterbodies with documented NZMS occupancy. We used a single-season occupancy model to estimate method-specific detection probabilities and probabilities of occupancy, if NZMS are not detected at an examined site. We also used a multiscale occupancy model to better understand small-scale spatial and temporal patterns in the probability of detecting NZMS by eDNA. A total of 43 visual surveys were conducted and 126 eDNA samples were collected from the 15 sites from 2015 to 2022. New Zealand mudsnail eDNA was detected at 13 sites in all five waterbodies, while visual surveys detected NZMS in five sites and in four of the waterbodies. The probability of detecting eDNA of NZMS was higher than the probability of detecting NZMS with visual surveys in both large (0.69 vs. 0.20) and small (0.94 vs. 0.74) systems. Expected probabilities of occupancy, if NZMS were not detected during sampling, were less than 0.05 when two samples of eDNA were collected in a small waterbody, three samples of eDNA were collected in a large waterbody, three visual surveys were conducted in a small waterbody, and when 14 visual surveys were conducted in a large waterbody. We observed small-scale spatial and temporal variation in eDNA detection in four of six sites where NZMS were detected, potentially due to low abundance, patchy distribution of NZMS or variable environmental conditions. This study adds to the growing body of work demonstrating the effectiveness of eDNA as an AIS early detection and monitoring tool in NFH and other aquatic habitats. Our results provide valuable insight into the nuances of each sampling technique and will help inform future AIS monitoring programs at NFHs.

Page intentionally left blank.

Table of Contents

| Abstracti |
|---|
| List of Figures |
| List of Tables |
| Introduction |
| Methods |
| New Zealand Mudsnail Biology6 |
| NZMS Survey Locations |
| Visual Surveys7 |
| Environmental DNA Sample Collection & Filtration7 |
| Spatial & Temporal Variation |
| Environmental DNA assay |
| PCR Amplification9 |
| Introduction to Occupancy Analyses9 |
| Results |
| NZMS visual surveys |
| Environmental DNA |
| Spatial Temporal Sampling |
| Discussion |
| Conclusion |
| Acknowledgements |
| Literature Cited |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Location of five waterbodies with known NZMS occupancy (red circles). Up to four sites were surveyed within these waterbodies using eDNA and visual surveys from 2015 to 2022. |
|--|
| Figure 2: Three sites sampled weekly for NZMS using eDNA in Burnt Bridge Creek between 8/21 and 9/19 in 2019 |
| Figure 3: Three sites sampled weekly for NZMS using eDNA in the Columbia/Kalama River between 8/21 and 9/19 in 2019 |
| Figure 4: Three sites sampled weekly for NZMS using eDNA in the lower Deschutes River between 8/19 and 9/16 in 2019 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: New Zealand mudsnail sample site locations, number of times sampled, eDNA and visual survey results and range of eDNA concentrations within positive eDNA sample replicates at five locations with known NZMS occupancy, 2015 to 2021. The Asterisks "*" indicates less than three eDNA sample replicates tested positive at a site |
|--|
| Table 2: Environmental DNA results and NZMS eDNA concentrations at nine sites sampledweekly in Burnt Bridge Creek, lower Deschutes River and Columbia/Kalama River between8/21 and 9/19 in 2019.34 |
| Table 3: Parameter estimates with 95% confidence intervals (in parentheses) for the two-level occupancy model to estimate detection probability of New Zealand Mudsnails sampled by eDNA grabs and visual surveys. 35 |
| Table 4: Parameter estimates with 95% confidence intervals (in parentheses) for the three-leveloccupancy model to estimate spatial and temporal patterns in detection probability of NewZealand Mudsnails sampled by eDNA grabs |

Introduction

The introduction and spread of aquatic invasive species (AIS) are concerns for natural resource managers. Given the difficulty and high economic cost of eradicating AIS once they become established, early detection is critical for effective management and control. However, detecting AIS at the onset of invasion can be difficult if the target organism is cryptic, rare, has a limited distribution, or occurs in a habitat that is difficult to survey effectively (Hulme 2006; Harvey et al. 2009). The New Zealand mudsnail (NZMS), *Potamopyrgus antipodarum*, is an AIS that is particularly challenging to detect due to its small size and cryptic coloration.

Conventional monitoring techniques for NZMS (e.g., tactile and visual inspections, snorkeling, D-frame kick nets, Hess stream bottom samplers, artificial settlement substrates, benthic grabs, etc.) can injure benthic invertebrates, are labor intensive, and may not reliably detect snails when an infestation first occurs or when abundance is low. In contrast, the environmental DNA (eDNA) technique has become an increasingly popular tool for the early detection of AIS due to its minimal environmental impact, enhanced sensitivity and potential to detect species at low

densities. Environmental DNA is genetic material that is shed by an organism in tissue cells, gametes, mucus, urine, feces, etc. This genetic material is released continuously and remains present in an environment until it is diluted, degraded, or dispersed in currents. Fragments of expelled DNA can be captured in an environmental sample (e.g., air, soil, sediment, or water) and extracted to confirm the presence of an organism without the need to capture or observe the organism directly. In aquatic ecosystems, eDNA could be a valuable technique to detect presence and monitor the spread of AIS (Jerde et al. 2013; Hunter et al. 2015; Davison et al. 2017; Cowart et al. 2018; Chucholl et al. 2021). However, relatively few studies have evaluated the use of eDNA to detect NZMS (Goldberg et al. 2013; Clusa et al. 2016; Thomas et al. 2019; Ponce et al. 2021; Woodell et al. 2021).

National Fish Hatcheries (NFHs) produce fish and other aquatic species, that provide commercial and recreational fishing opportunities, fulfil tribal trust and mitigation responsibilities, and contribute to the recovery of threatened and endangered species. Managing the threat of AIS is one of the many challenges hatchery managers face. Fish hatcheries may be more susceptible to NZMS invasion given their stable environment (i.e., water flow, temperature) and increased nutrient output. Many hatcheries are also located in close proximity to popular river access points such as boat ramps and hiking trails where NZMS may be spread more readily by recreational activities. Routine hatchery operations including the transport of fish or eggs to another hatchery, the movement of fish distribution equipment (e.g., fish hauling truck, tank, nets, transfer water) and fish stocking, each have the potential to introduce or spread NZMS to new waterbodies or hatchery facilities (ANSTF 2007). If NZMS become established within a fish hatchery, they can increase labor and operational costs, damage equipment or infrastructure (e.g., water delivery pipes, filters, screens, pumps, etc.) and require the facility to undergo extensive decontamination and fish depuration procedures (Bruce 2006; Oplinger et al. 2011; Nakano and Strayer 2014). In extreme cases the hatchery may be forced to modify infrastructure (e.g., isolate rearing ponds, add exclusion screens, install hydrocyclones or filter socks), suspend production or close down completely.

Conducting effective AIS surveillance at NFHs is often challenging due to excessive water depth, low visibility, or poor accessibility of hatchery intake and outflow areas. Additionally, the invasive NZMS is naturally cryptic and difficult to detect in low abundance. Environmental DNA is increasingly being used as a monitoring tool for early detection of AIS, though few studies have quantitatively evaluated the efficacy of eDNA or other early detection techniques at NFHs or for NZMS in any aquatic environment. The USFWS Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office has performed annual visual (presence/absence) surveys and eDNA sampling for NZMS at lower Columbia Basin NFHs since 2015 (Poirier 2015; Poirier 2017; Poirier and Harris 2019). To assess the reliability of our survey techniques, we performed paired visual surveys and eDNA sampling at five sites with known NZMS occupancy and used an occupancy-modelling framework to estimate site occupancy and method-specific detection probabilities. The purpose of this analysis was to assess effectiveness of our survey techniques to inform future study design for early detection of NZMS and other AIS at NFHs. Specific objectives were to: 1) estimate the detection probability of eDNA and visual surveys and to estimate probabilities of occupancy, if NZMS are undetected after sampling; and 2) identify potential spatial and temporal patterns in the probability of detecting NZMS by eDNA.

Methods

New Zealand Mudsnail Biology

The New Zealand mudsnail is a tiny freshwater snail that was likely introduced to North America through the discharge of contaminated ballast water (Zaranko et al. 1997; Gangloff 1998) or the shipment of fish or eggs via the commercial aquaculture industry (Bowler 1991; Bowler and Frest 1992). New Zealand mudsnail are highly adaptable and can inhabit both lentic (e.g., lakes, reservoirs) and lotic habitats (e.g., estuaries, rivers, streams, springs, canals), and tolerate a broad range of aquatic conditions (e.g., temperature, salinity, turbidity, water velocity, stream productivity and substrate types; see Geist et al. 2022). Adult NZMS range from 3-6 mm in length and have an elongate conical shell with 5-8 whorls coiled in a clockwise direction. Whorls may be smooth or bear a raised keel and shell color varies from grey to light or dark brown. The aperture of the shell has a solid operculum that allows the snail to seal off the shell opening making it impervious to mild pollutants and resistant to desiccation (Richards et al. 2004; Schisler et al. 2008; Romero-Blanco and Alonso 2019). The shell wall of NZMS is rigid and difficult for many species of fish to digest. In some instances, the snail may pass through the digestive tract of fish alive and unharmed (Bruce et al. 2009; Oplinger et al. 2009; Brenneis et al. 2011; Butkus and Rakauskas 2020). Fish released from an infested hatchery facility or reared in a contaminated river may introduce or expand the distribution of NZMS by dispersing live snails in their excrement (Vinson and Baker 2008; Bruce et al. 2009). In the United States, NZMS populations are comprised almost entirely of self-cloning parthenogenetic females which become sexually mature at approximately 3-9 months of age and may bear offspring up to four times per year. Brood size of an individual female ranges from 20-120 embryos, each of which may mature to produce an average of 230 offspring per year (Alonso and Castro-Díez 2008; Cheng and LeClair 2011). Densities of NZMS often undergo broad fluctuations both seasonally and annually depending on the climate, food resources, water temperature, water velocity, time of establishment, or natural dispersal (Moore et al. 2012; Geist et al. 2022). In the Columbia River estuary, NZMS have been observed in densities ranging from 16,000 to 84,000 snails/m² at a single location (Youngs Bay; Litton 2019). Large colonies of NZMS can dominate the invertebrate biomass, consume more than half of the gross primary productivity, and influence nitrogen and carbon cycling in a stream (Hall et al. 2003; Hall et al. 2006; Alonso and Castro-Díez 2008; Moore et al. 2012). In high densities, NZMS may outcompete and deplete available food resources for native snails and other grazing invertebrates (Moore et al. 2012; Larson and Black 2016), potentially impacting higher trophic level predators (Rakauskas et al. 2018).

NZMS Survey Locations

Five waterbodies with documented NZMS occupancy were sampled for NZMS including: Burnt Bridge Creek, Columbia/Kalama River, Lower Deschutes River, Nestucca River and Youngs Bay. One (Nestucca River, Youngs Bay) or four sites (Burnt Bridge Creek, Lower Deschutes River, Columbia/Kalama River) were surveyed within each waterbody using visual surveys and eDNA sampling (Table 1, Figure 1). These locations were obtained from the Nonindigenous Aquatic Species webpage (Benson et al. 2022), which tracks confirmed sightings of non-native invertebrates, vertebrates and plants submitted by natural resource professionals, researchers, and citizen scientists. Species observations are spatially referenced and include records of species status (i.e., whether population is sparse or established), potential pathway of introduction and observation date/year. Although our five waterbodies were designated as occupied between 2002 and 2013, current NZMS distribution and abundance within sites were unknown.

Visual Surveys

Visual presence/absence surveys were conducted annually over a two-week period in late August or early September (2015-2022). Surveys were focused on areas with suitable NZMS habitat characteristics (e.g., low water velocity, sand, silt, or cobble substrate, presence of aquatic vegetation or other in-channel cover) in water depths ranging from 0.3m-1.2m. One or two field personnel visually inspected up to a 20 meter long section of stream upstream and/or downstream of each survey site for a minimum of 10 minutes. Surface substrate was manually flipped over at haphazard intervals, aquatic vegetation was sifted through by hand and surfaces of structures (i.e., culverts, concrete walls, submerged wood, pilings) were closely examined (visually and by hand) for NZMS. In water depths greater than 0.6 m, substrate, aquatic vegetation and structures were visually inspected using an underwater viewing scope. If field personnel observed NZMS or an aquatic snail that could not be identified, a specimen was collected and taken back to the CRFWCO laboratory for species verification.

Environmental DNA Sample Collection & Filtration

Environmental DNA sampling was conducted over a two-week period in late August or early September (2015-2022), following protocols described in Goldberg and Strickler (2017). Environmental DNA grab samples were collected across the width of the waterbody (Burnt Bridge) or at regular intervals (<10m apart) moving either parallel or perpendicular to a single shoreline (Columbia/Kalama River, Lower Deschutes River, Nestucca River, Youngs Bay). A total of three eDNA grab samples (i.e., spatial replicates) were collected at each site. Sterile 0.5L Nalgene bottles were rinsed three times with water from the sample site, submerged until full and placed in a cooler on ice for transport to the CRFWCO laboratory. A single field negative control water sample was also collected at each site and processed in the same manner as field samples to assess the potential for sample contamination associated with handling and transport. Field negative controls were collected immediately following the collection of field samples and consisted of filling a sterile 0.5L Nalgene bottle with distilled water and placing it in the cooler on ice alongside field samples. Immediately following the collection of eDNA grab samples at all sites, one or two personnel performed a visual presence/absence survey for NZMS using the methods described above. Environmental DNA water samples were filtered in the CRFWCO laboratory within four hours (or less) of collection. Individual samples were poured into a 250ml disposable filter funnel and strained through a 0.45µm cellulose nitrate membrane using a peristaltic pump. When a total of 500ml had been filtered, the funnel was removed from the flask and the membrane disk was carefully folded and placed in a sterile 2.0ml vial with 100% ethanol. In 2020, folded membrane disks were placed in a Ziploc containing silica desiccant beads. Samples were labeled with a unique site code and stored at room temperature (vials with ethanol) or in a freezer (desiccant bags) until they were sent to Washington State University eDNA laboratory for analysis.

A general concern with the eDNA technique is the possibility of obtaining a false positive result due to field or lab contamination. To minimize this risk in the field, care was taken to remain out of the water or downstream of the sample bottle while acquiring water samples to avoid close contact with field gear. New nitrile gloves were worn between sample collection sites in the field and during sample filtering in the CRFWCO laboratory. Within the lab, equipment in direct contact with water samples (i.e., Nalgene bottles, forceps) were decontaminated between sample sites by soaking in a 50% bleach solution for a minimum of one minute before rinsing and drying thoroughly. Vacuum flask and other components not in direct contact with water samples (i.e., rubber stopper, silicone tubing) were soaked in a 10% bleach solution and rinsed between sample sites. Lab countertops were sprayed with a 50% bleach solution and wiped down between each sample site. Waders, boots and sampling gear (i.e., nets, viewing scope) were disinfected daily in a 1% solution of Virkon Aquatic for a minimum of 30 minutes. Additionally, waders and boots were placed in a freezer (\approx -14°C) overnight between use.

Spatial & Temporal Variation

In 2019, we assessed potential small-scale spatial and temporal variation in eDNA detection by repeatedly sampling eDNA from three separate sites in three of the five waterbodies (Burnt Bridge Creek, Lower Deschutes River, and Columbia/Kalama River; Figures 2, 3, and 4). To explore spatial variability, we collected three grab samples at three different locations within a site (e.g., right bank, midchannel, left bank). Spatial replicates were collected once per week for a total of three weeks to assess temporal variability in eDNA detection. Sites included the one location typically sampled during annual surveys, while the other two sites were selected haphazardly based upon ease of public access to the site (e.g., boat ramp, fishing access trail, pedestrian bridges) or the presence of permanent instream structures (e.g., pilings).

Environmental DNA assay

The NZMS assay used in this analysis was developed at the Washington State University eDNA laboratory using published mitochondrial cytochrome *b* sequence data obtained through GenBank (National Center for Biotechnology Information). A target primer-probe set was created using Primer Express software and tested against all known sequences using primer-BLAST in GenBank to prevent cross amplification with other species. Assay sensitivity and specificity was tested using DNA extracted from a number of NZMS specimen representing six

known haplotypes, as well as DNA from six 'non target' snail species commonly found in freshwater streams in Idaho and Montana. The resulting primer-probe set was then validated using eDNA samples obtained from a NZMS dose-response lab experiment and samples collected from a natural river with known NZMS presence (Goldberg et al. 2013).

PCR Amplification

Environmental DNA sample processing was performed by the Washington State University eDNA laboratory. Environmental DNA was extracted from sample membrane discs using the QIAshredder/DNeasy Blood and Tissue DNA extraction kit method (described in Goldberg et al. 2011) and amplified using a real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) method. All DNA extractions included a negative control (i.e., empty centrifuge tube) that was processed similarly to a real sample to reveal potential cross-contamination during the extraction process. Each PCR plate included an internal positive control (i.e., synthetic non-target sequence) to test for the presence of PCR inhibitors that may lead to a false negative result. Approximately 2.5µL of DNA extract was used in each reaction, and all reactions were run in triplicate.

Introduction to Occupancy Analyses

We examined detection probability of NZMS using two occupancy models: 1) a single-season occupancy model and 2) a multiscale occupancy model. Occupancy models are hierarchical models in which each level of the hierarchy is estimated using a Bernoulli distribution (MacKenzie et al. 2006). A Bernoulli distribution is a discrete probability distribution in which each outcome (i.e., response) can only take on either a value of one or a value of zero, for example, "occupied" or "not occupied" and similarly, "detected" or "not detected". In an occupancy model, detection probability is usually assessed by conducting replicate surveys at multiple sites often at different times (i.e., temporal replicates); however, often when eDNA samples are collected, more than one sample is collected from a site, but from a slightly different location at the site (i.e., spatial replicates). In both cases, it is assumed that the occupancy state of the site (i.e., occupied or not) does not vary among the replicate surveys. First, we used a single-season (two-level) occupancy model (MacKenzie et al. 2006) to estimate detection probability of NZMS sampled by two methods, eDNA and visual survey, and to estimate posterior probabilities of occupancy, if NZMS are undetected, given varied levels of survey effort for each examined method. The purpose of this analysis was to guide future study design for early detection of NZMS. For this first analysis, we sampled at a total of 15 unique sampling sites (e.g., boat ramp, bridge) in five waterbodies occupied by NZMS (Burnt Bridge Creek, lower Deschutes River, Columbia/Kalama River, Nestucca River and Youngs Bay). Sampling was conducted during eight years (2015-2022) and each unique site was sampled 1-8 times (see Table 1). We did not assume occupancy status stayed the same over the years and thus for this analysis, a "site" was defined in the model by unique site and year, resulting in a total of 42 "sites" in this occupancy model. At each site, three grab samples of eDNA were collected and a visual presence/absence survey was conducted. Second, we used a multiscale occupancy model (three-level) described in Kéry and Royle (2016) to assess spatial and temporal patterns in the probability of detecting NZMS by eDNA. Although the amount of water filtered in an eDNA

grab is standardized, unlike visual surveys in which the area examined can be measured and the specific location of any detected species can be recorded, it is often unclear how much area was "examined" spatially by an eDNA grab or where exactly any detections might be geographically. Thus, it is often unknown if and how the distribution of eDNA in a system may differ from the distribution of live organisms in the system. In this second analysis, we evaluated detection of spatial and temporal replication for eDNA. This second analysis was conducted between 8/21 and 9/6 in 2019 in Burnt Bridge Creek, Columbia/Kalama River, and lower Deschutes River.

Detection of eDNA & Visual Surveys (Single-Season Occupancy Model)

To estimate detection probability of eDNA and visual sampling methods, we used a singleseason occupancy model with two hierarchical levels (MacKenzie et al. 2006; Kéry and Schaub 2012). The first hierarchical level is the state process to estimate the true probability that a site (*i*) is occupied by NZMS (z_i):

$z_i \sim Bernouli(\psi_i)$

Although all five waterbodies were occupied by NZMS, densities and distributions were largely unstudied and likely vary spatially and temporally. To allow for differences in the probability of site occupancy among the five examined waterbodies, the probability a specific site was occupied (z_i) was estimated from the probability of site occupancy (ψ_i), which was modeled on the logit scale as a function of waterbody (S_i):

$$Logit(\psi_i) = \alpha_0 + \beta_0(S_i)$$

Where α_0 is the intercept for the occupancy portion of the model and β_0 is the slope for the effect of waterbody on the probability of occupancy.

The second level of the model is the observation process or the probability of detecting NZMS in one sample of eDNA $(p_{D_{i,j}})$ or visually $(p_{V_{i,j}})$, given that the site is occupied (i.e., given that $z_i=1$). For this model, four replicate surveys were completed at each of the 42 sites, three by eDNA $(D_{i,j})$ and one by visual survey $(V_{i,j})$. Detection probability of eDNA $(p_{D_{i,j}})$ was estimated based on three replicate samples (j) collected at each site (i) and the probability that the specific site was occupied (z_i) :

$$D_{i,j} \sim Bernouli(p_{D_{i,i}} * z_i)$$

Detection probability of eDNA ($p_{D_{i,j}}$) was modeled on the logit scale as a function of the size of the waterbody at the site (R_i) which was categorized as large (>100 m) or small (<100 m):

$$Logit(p_{D_{i,i}}) = \alpha_1 + \beta_1(R_i)$$

Where α_1 is the intercept for the eDNA detection portion of the model and β_1 is the slope for the effect of size on the probability of detection by eDNA. We also estimated detection probability of NZMS observed by visual survey of the site $(p_{V_{i,j}})$. Visual detection probability $(p_{V_{i,j}})$ was estimated based on one replicate (i.e., j = 1) visual survey $(V_{i,j})$ conducted at each site (i): $V_{i,j} \sim Bernouli(p_{V_{i,j}} * z_i)$ Detection probability of visual surveys $(p_{V_{i,j}})$ was also modeled on the logit scale as a function of a categorical variable (i.e., large or small) for waterbody size (R_i) , as well as a function of the average number of eDNA copies collected per ml of water sampled at the site (N_i) :

$$Logit(p_{V_{i,j}}) = \alpha_2 + \beta_2(R_i) + \beta_3(N_i)$$

As above, α_2 in the intercept and β_2 and β_3 are slopes. We included a slope for the average number of eDNA copies per ml of water sampled to evaluate whether there was a correlation between eDNA copies in the water and the probability of visually detecting NZMS.

We used these estimates of detection probability in a model developed by Peterson and Dunham (2003) from Bayes Theorem to estimate expected probabilities of occupancy (0), if NZMS are not detected during sampling:

$$0 = \frac{P(C/F)}{1 + P(C/F)}$$

Where P(C/F) is the probability of not detecting NZMS given different numbers (*n*) of surveys and our estimates of detection probability (p_t) of eDNA in a small or large waterbody or visual survey in a small or large waterbody (*t*):

$$P(C/F) = (1 - p_t)^n$$

Estimates of the expected probabilities of occupancy (0) if NZMS are not detected during different levels of survey effort can help guide sampling for early detection of NZMS.

Spatial & Temporal Patterns in Detection Probability (Multiscale Occupancy Model)

We used a multiscale model with three hierarchical levels to examine spatial and temporal patterns in detection probability of eDNA for detecting NZMS (Kéry and Royle 2016). The first level was the probability that a site of interest (again, boat ramp, bridge, etc.) was occupied in an occupied waterbody (e.g., lower Deschutes River). The second level was the probability an eDNA grab location at an occupied site was also occupied with NZMS eDNA, which was termed "availability". Since availability is the probability that a grab location in an occupied site is also occupied, we used it in this analysis to assess spatial variability in detection of NZMS by eDNA. The third level is the probability that a grab will detect eDNA of NZMS when it is available (i.e., grab location is occupied). Detection probability was estimated by collecting three temporally replicate eDNA grabs at each grab location within the site. All temporally replicate grabs at each grab location were collected between 8/21 and 9/6 in 2019.

Similar to the first occupancy analysis, the first level is the probability that a specific site (*i*) in an occupied waterbody is occupied by NZMS (z_i):

$z_i \sim Bernouli(\psi_i)$

Similarly, we included a categorical covariate to allow for differences in the probability of site occupancy (due to differences in density or distribution) among the occupied waterbodies examined. Thus, the probability that a specific site was occupied (z_i) was estimated from the probability of site occupancy (ψ_i), which was modeled on the logit scale as a function of waterbody (S_i):

$$Logit(\psi_i) = \alpha_3 + \beta_4(S_i)$$

To estimate the number of occupied sites (out of the 9 sampled) we summed z_i in the model. The second level of the hierarchy, the probability that an eDNA grab location (*j*) in an occupied site was also occupied by NZMS eDNA or "availability $(a_{i,i})$ " was estimated:

$a_{i,j} \sim Bernouli(A_{i,j})$

The probability that a grab location was occupied $(A_{i,j})$ was a function of the probability of occupancy for the specific site (z_i) and the probability that a grab location in an occupied site will be occupied (p_s) :

$$A_{i,i} = z_i * p_s$$

Since p_s is the probability that a grab location at an occupied site is occupied, it potentially informs about spatial distribution of NZMS eDNA on a small scale and detection probability of spatial replicates, which could be more efficient in some situations, than temporal replicates. To identify the number of occupied grab locations, we summed $a_{i,j}$ within the model.

The final level is the probability of detecting NZMS eDNA from a temporally replicate survey at a grab location ($L_{i,j,k}$), given that the grab location is occupied (i.e., $a_{i,j} = 1$) and detection occurs at the time of sampling (p_T):

$$L_{i,j,k} \sim Bernouli(p_T * a_{i,j})$$

Since p_T is the probability of detecting NZMS eDNA at the time of collection at a grab location that is occupied, it potentially informs about temporal patterns in detection of NZMS eDNA.

We analyzed these two occupancy models by Bayesian methods using JAGS software (Plummer 2003) called from Program R (R Core Team 2013) with code modified from Kéry and Royle (2016). Logit scale priors for intercepts ($\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$) and slopes ($\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3$) were uniform distributions (range -10 to 10). Priors for p_T and p_S were also uniform distributions (range 0 to 1). Inference was completed using Package jagsUI with function autojags (Kellner 2017) for 3 chains, an adaption period of 10,000 iterations, a burn in period of 10,000, and an iteration increment of 50,000. Enough iterations were saved to reach convergence, as assessed by all estimated parameters having an Rhat score of 1.1 or less (Gelman and Hill 2007; Kéry and Schaub 2012). Unless otherwise noted, posterior distributions are described by the median for central trend (i.e., estimate), and 95% credible intervals (CI) for precision.

Results

NZMS visual surveys

Forty-three visual surveys were conducted in five waterbodies with known NZMS occupancy during 2015-2022 (Table 1). New Zealand mudsnail were observed during 14 surveys (33%), at five of the 15 unique sites and in four of the five waterbodies with documented occupancy (Burnt Bridge Creek, Nestucca River, Youngs Bay and Columbia/Kalama River). Field personnel observed NZMS during nine of 13 surveys at Burnt Bridge Creek, one of two surveys at

Nestucca River, three of three surveys at Youngs Bay and one of 12 surveys conducted at Columbia/Kalama River. Relative NZMS abundance was highest in Young's Bay (\approx 800 snail/m²), moderate in Burnt Bridge Creek (\approx 20 snail/m²) and low in the Nestucca River (\approx 2 snail/m²) and Columbia/Kalama River (\approx 1 snail/m²). No NZMS were observed in the lower Deschutes River, though snails were documented downstream from the Heritage Landing boat launch in 2005 and 2007 (Benson et al. 2022).

Environmental DNA

A total of 126 eDNA grab samples were collected in five waterbodies with known NZMS occupancy from 2015-2022 (Table 1). New Zealand mudsnail eDNA was detected in 13 unique sites and in all five waterbodies with documented occupancy. All grab samples collected at Young's Bay and the Nestucca River (15 total) tested positive for the presence of NZMS eDNA, while 36 out of 39 samples tested positive for NZMS in Burnt Bridge Creek, 17 out of 36 samples tested positive in the Deschutes River and 13 of 36 samples tested positive in the Columbia/Kalama River. Concentrations of NZMS eDNA within positive grab samples ranged from 0.04 - 0.90 copies/ml in the lower Deschutes, 0.05 - 9.40 copies/ml in the Columbia/Kalama River, 1.66 - 20.76 copies/ml in the Nestucca River, 0.15 - 146.42 copies/ml in Burnt Bridge Creek and 37.86 - 865.67 copies/ml in Youngs Bay (Table 1). All field negative controls taken at sites with known NZMS occupancy (42 total) tested negative for the presence of NZMS eDNA.

Spatial Temporal Sampling

A total of 81 eDNA grab samples were collected at nine different sites in three occupied waterbodies over a three-week period in 2019. The presence of NZMS eDNA was detected in samples from 12 of 27 grab locations at six sites in the three waterbodies (Table 2). Burnt Bridge Creek was the only waterbody where NZMS eDNA was detected in all three spatial replicates during the entire three-week study period (Sites #1 and #2). Both spatial and temporal distribution of eDNA detection varied widely in four other sites: Burnt Bridge Site #3, lower Deschutes Site #1 and #3, and Columbia/Kalama Site #1. No NZMS eDNA was detected in any sample replicate during week one of the study, but all four sites had one or two positive replicates during weeks two and/or three of the study. All field negative controls collected during the three week period of intensive sampling (27 total) tested negative for the presence of NZMS eDNA.

Detection of eDNA & Visual Surveys (Single-Season Occupancy Model)

The probability that a site examined would be occupied by NZMS ranged from 0.53 (CI: 0.25 – 0.81) in the Columbia/Kalama River to 1.00 (CI: 0.94 – 0.1.00) in Burnt Bridge Creek (Table 3). Detection probability of NZMS sampled by one grab of eDNA was higher in smaller waterbodies compared to larger waterbodies ($\beta_1 = 1.96$; CI: 0.67 – 3.59). The probability of detecting NZMS sampled by grab of eDNA (p_D) was 0.94 (CI: 0.85 – 0.99) in small systems and 0.69 (CI: 0.53 – 0.82) in large systems. Similarly, detection probability of NZMS sampled by

visual survey was higher in smaller streams compared to larger streams ($\beta_2 = 2.48$; CI: 0.77 – 4.57). Estimates of the probability of detecting NZMS sampled by visual survey (p_V) were lower than those by eDNA with the probabilities being 0.74 (CI: 0.66 – 0.92) in small systems and 0.20 (CI: 0.04 – 0.49) in large systems. Among the two methods, CIs overlapped for small waterbodies, but not for large waterbodies. The probability of detecting NZMS by visual surveys increased with the average number of copies/mL of snail eDNA collected in a grab ($\beta_3 = 2.46$; CI: 0.44 – 6.00).

Expected probabilities of occupancy, if NZMS were not detected during sampling, were less than 0.05 when two eDNA grabs were collected in a small waterbody, three eDNA grabs were collected in a large waterbody, three visual surveys were conducted in a small waterbody, and when 14 visual surveys were conducted in a larger waterbody (Figure 5).

Three-level model to examine spatial and temporal patterns in detection probability of eDNA for NZMS

The probability that a site examined would be occupied ranged from 0.48 (CI: 0.03 - 1.00) in the Columbia/Kalama River to 1.00 (CI: 0.72 - 0.1.00) in Burnt Bridge Creek (Table 4). The model suggested that 7 of 9 (95%: 6 - 9) or 78% (95%: 67 - 100) of the examined sites in the three occupied waterbodies were occupied by NZMS. Of the occupied sites, the model estimated that a total of 12 (95%; 12 - 15) grab locations were occupied by NZMS. The probability that eDNA was detected at a grab location (i.e., "spatial replicate") within an occupied site (p_S) was 0.59 (0.34 - 0.83). The probability that eDNA was detected in a temporal replicate collected at specific grab location that was occupied (p_T) was 0.69 (0.51 - 0.83).

Discussion

Accurately detecting presence and identifying distribution is critical for effective control and management of any AIS. Monitoring for AIS without knowing if they are present is inherently challenging because it's unclear whether the organism is truly absent, or it was simply not detected during sampling. Detecting a new infestation of NZMS can be especially challenging because they are very small and difficult to find, particularly when densities are low. Identifying the appropriate sampling effort (i.e., number of eDNA samples or visual surveys) is an important aspect of AIS surveillance design. Based on our estimated detection probabilities, the probability of occupancy if NZMS are not detected at a site in a large waterbody is less than 0.05 if we collect three 0.5L eDNA grab samples or conduct 14 visual surveys. In a small waterbody, our probability of occupancy is less than 0.05 if we collect two eDNA grab samples or conduct three visual surveys. Based on these results, our current level of eDNA sampling at NFHs is likely sufficient to detect an invasion of NZMS, but up to 14 visual surveys may be required to ensure a hatchery facility is unoccupied, which is more than what is currently performed. Our results suggest that the probability of detecting NZMS eDNA is higher than the probability of detecting the snails by visual surveys in both large and small waterbodies, which may make it a

good tool to detect a new invasion. However, our results also suggest that detection probability of eDNA can vary spatially and temporally and may be reduced when water volume is high, snail abundance is low, or distribution is patchy. Detection by visual surveys is also imperfect and may be lower when snail abundance is low or the sample site is large, deep, or complex. However, when detected, visual surveys can pinpoint the precise location of individuals and may be just as reliable as eDNA when sampling in smaller, shallow streams or when NZMS abundance is high. Both eDNA and visual surveys could play a role in detecting the presence, monitoring the spread, and examining patterns in abundance and distribution of NZMS in their introduced range.

Our results indicate that the probability of detecting NZMS eDNA is higher than the probability of detecting NZMS by visual surveys. Ponce et al. (2021) and Woodell et al. (2021), similarly found that eDNA was more effective at detecting NZMS at survey locations than traditional methods, although these two studies did not estimate method-specific detection probabilities. Further, for multiple species, detection probability of eDNA appears higher than that for traditional methods (Smart et al. 2015; Schmelzle and Kinziger 2016; Wilcox et al. 2016; Eiler et al. 2018; Akre et al. 2019; Wineland et al. 2019). The higher probability of detecting NZMS via eDNA may be due to a more wide-spread distribution of NZMS eDNA in water, compared to the actual distribution of snails. Environmental DNA is often distributed more broadly than the physical distribution of the target species though eDNA transport distance from a source population varies widely (Pilliod et al. 2013; Deiner and Altermatt 2014; Jane et al. 2015; Deiner et al. 2016). The lower probability of detecting NZMS via visual surveys could be associated with patchy NZMS distribution or low snail abundance at a given site. In this study, paired eDNA sampling and visual surveys were conducted at spatially referenced locations (i.e., GPS points) with documented NZMS occupancy (see Methods). Although visual surveys were conducted both upstream and downstream from a GPS point, it's possible NZMS were located just outside our search area or occurred in low densities that remained undetected by field personnel. Since eDNA can detect individuals that are upstream or hard to detect by visual surveys due to small numbers or low visibility, it could be an optimal method to detect a new invasion, when abundance could be low and patchy.

We identified correlations between visual detection, NZMS eDNA, NZMS abundance, and waterbody size. We observed higher concentrations of eDNA in sites with high abundances of NZMS, and low or variable eDNA concentrations and eDNA detections (i.e., less than three replicates positive) in locations with low or presumed low NZMS abundance. A similar relationship between NZMS abundance and eDNA concentration was also observed by Thomas et al. (2019) and Ponce et al. (2021). In general, locations where NZMS have been consistently observed during visual surveys tend to be smaller in size (\approx 7m-90m) or have moderate to high NZMS densities (e.g., Burnt Bridge Creek and Youngs Bay). Tank et al. (2021) developed a qualitative visual sampling methodology for NZMS and evaluated its effectiveness in 12 rivers in Michigan. They found that as relative abundance of NZMS were present in low abundance,

we were less likely to encounter them during a visual survey when the spatial area of a survey site was large or the habitat was complex (e.g., dense aquatic vegetation). Conversely, when snail densities were moderate to high, the snails were very conspicuous and easier to detect visually, even in large rivers (e.g., Youngs Bay). Potentially, when NZMS populations reach a certain threshold density, detection probability of visual surveys may approach 1.0, regardless of stream size or environmental conditions. Thus, detection by visual survey appears high when snail abundance is high and when the waterbody is small. Under these conditions, visual surveys could contribute to fine-scale identification of distribution, abundance, or habitat use since field personnel can observe NZMS directly.

Our results suggest that detection probability of eDNA is generally high but can be variable even on a small spatial scale. In the lower Deschutes and Columbia/Kalama River, NZMS eDNA was not detected consistently in all sample replicates (i.e., < 3 replicates positive) at two survey sites. These results were unlikely caused by sample contamination because all field negative controls (10 total) tested negative for NZMS and multiple replicates tested positive at both sites over the duration of the study. Rather, we believe irregular detection of eDNA was due to low densities or patchy distribution of NZMS in these locations. In both waterbodies, sites sampled immediately upstream had a higher rate of eDNA detection (i.e., two or three replicates positive each year) and higher concentrations of NZMS eDNA within each positive replicate. Furthermore, live NZMS were recently discovered in the Columbia/Kalama River approximately 100m upstream from the original sample site. The snails were well hidden on the underside of cobbles and present in very low density ($< 5 \text{ snail/m}^2$). Our survey sites are potentially too far downstream from the source population to consistently detect the eDNA. It is unclear how few NZMS can be reliably detected by the eDNA technique, and how far away snails can be from the sample site. Several studies indicate eDNA can be detected up to several kilometers downstream from a source population (Pilliod et al. 2013; Deiner and Altermatt 2014; Jane et al. 2015), though environmental variables (e.g., water temperature, discharge, UV radiation, water chemistry, bacteria and organic material) and the target organism (e.g., species, size, abundance, distribution, eDNA shedding rate) can influence the persistence and quantity of DNA present at a sample location (Pilliod et al. 2013; Barnes et al. 2014; Herder et al. 2014; Strickler et al. 2014; Jane et al. 2015; Goldberg et al. 2016). More research is needed to understand eDNA transport for NZMS and how population abundance, snail distribution, and environmental conditions may influence NZMS eDNA detection probabilities. However, what is clear is that when abundance could be low or patchy, sampling effort and design (spatially and temporally) should be carefully considered to ensure a high probability of detection.

Occupancy models estimate and account for less than 100% detection through the process of replicated sampling (MacKenzie et al. 2006). In 2019, we examined the small-scale (weekly) spatial and temporal variation in eDNA detection by sampling the same three sites in three occupied streams over a three-week period. This study allowed us to examine for spatial and temporal patterns in eDNA detection within a site and to consider how spatial and temporal replicates could be used in future occupancy sampling programs using eDNA. Although

temporal replicates are more commonly used in occupancy modeling (MacKenzie et al. 2006), spatial replicates may be more feasible or practical, and may perform equally as well (Whittington et al. 2015; Srivathsa et al. 2018). Detection probability of spatial replicates (0.59; 95%: 0.34 - 0.83) was slightly lower that for temporal replicates (0.69; 95%: 0.51 - 0.83); however, 95% credible intervals overlapped. These estimated detection probabilities suggest that both methods could be used to correct estimates of occupancy for missed detection.

We observed high eDNA detection variability among spatial replicates at four of six sites where NZMS eDNA was detected in 2019 (Burnt Bridge Site #3, lower Deschutes Sites #1 and #3, and Columbia/Kalama Site #1; Table 2). Variability among spatial replicates could be driven by multiple factors including NZMS distribution, abundance, proximity of NZMS to the sampled sites, and waterbody characteristics. Environmental DNA tends to be distributed unevenly in lotic systems, with concentrations highest in close proximity to the source population and decreasing farther downstream (Jane et al. 2015; Laramie et al. 2015; Wilcox et al. 2016; Hinlo et al. 2018; Tillotson et al. 2018; Chucholl et al. 2021). Furthermore, eDNA concentrations are often related to abundance of the organism (Pilliod et al. 2013; Doi et al. 2017; Bracken et al. 2018; Coulter et al. 2019; Chucholl et al. 2021; Ponce et al. 2021; Rourke et al. 2021). At each site noted, NZMS eDNA concentrations in positive replicates were very low (< 0.13 copies/ml), suggesting the eDNA may have originated further upstream and/or that the population is patchy or low density. The variability observed within spatial replicates may also be related to the size of the waterbody. Burnt Bridge Creek is a small (<10m wide), relatively shallow stream, whereas the lower Deschutes and Columbia/Kalama are both large (>100m wide), high volume rivers. Previous studies have suggested that eDNA becomes diluted in high volume lotic systems, reducing eDNA detection probability (Herder et al. 2014; Stoeckle et al. 2017; Rusch et al. 2020; Lam et al. 2022). Chucholl et al. (2021) observed lower eDNA detection of crayfish species in large rivers versus small streams that was attributed to dilution of the eDNA signal. High water volumes in the lower Deschutes and Columbia/Kalama Rivers combined with low concentrations of NZMS eDNA may result in missed detections. Conversely, in Burnt Bridge Creek, NZMS eDNA is confined to a much smaller volume of water and thus easier to capture (Smart et al. 2015). Variability in eDNA detection may also be influenced by the specific physical location (e.g., right bank, midstream, left bank) of eDNA collection within a site. To maximize detection probability, eDNA grab samples should be collected at different locations within a site (i.e., spatial replicates), targeting different microhabitats to optimize eDNA detection (Herder et al. 2014; Goldberg et al. 2016; Xing et al. 2022). In lotic systems, Wood et al. (2021) recommends collecting grab samples from both shorelines or from the shoreline and midstream (rather than a single shoreline) to account for the heterogeneous distribution of eDNA in flowing water. We were only able to access a single shoreline in both the lower Deschutes and Columbia/Kalama Rivers which may have limited our ability to consistently detect eDNA in all spatial replicates.

High temporal (weekly) variation was also observed at four of six sample sites where NZMS eDNA was detected in 2019 (Burnt Bridge Site #3, lower Deschutes Sites #1 and #3, and Columbia/Kalama Site #1; Table 2). Notably, all spatial replicates tested negative for NZMS

during week one of the study. However, in following weeks, one or more of the three replicates tested positive for NZMS eDNA at each site. Within Burnt Bridge Creek (Site #3), NZMS were visually observed during three consecutive surveys, but were only detected within a single spatial replicate (out of 9) during week three of the study. Water depth at this site is lower compared to the other two sites in Burnt Bridge creek (0.2 m vs 0.7 m depth) with higher relative stream flow (i.e., riffle vs pool habitat) that may have dispersed eDNA away from the site more quickly (Stoeckle et al. 2017; Curtis et al. 2020; Gasparini et al. 2020). Additionally, relative abundance of NZMS at site #3 was very low ($\approx 2 \text{ snail/m}^2$) and all snails were observed on the underside of large cobble. Examples of short-term (e.g., hourly, daily, weekly, monthly) temporal variability in eDNA detection are relatively common in the literature (Beentjes et al. 2019; Ely et al. 2021; Troth et al. 2021; Jensen et al. 2022; Searcy et al. 2022). The combined effects of species abundance, distribution, movement (e.g., migration, schooling, diel behavior), eDNA transport, eDNA degradation and sample collection techniques (e.g., number of sample replicates, water volume filtered, filter pore size, etc.) can each result in variable eDNA concentrations and species detection. We theorize that snail abundance, distribution and aquatic conditions (i.e., stream discharge and volume) likely contributed to the temporal variability in these locations. Our results provide insight into the small-scale temporal dynamics of NZMS eDNA detection that can occur within an occupied stream and serves as a caution to not rely on a single spatial or temporal measurement for eDNA monitoring, as it may lead to the false assumption that a site is unoccupied. Incorrectly concluding an invasive species is absent from a site could result in the proliferation or spread of the species to new locations. Given the patchy distribution and often low abundance of NZMS in occupied sites, conducting a single annual eDNA survey may not be the best temporal resolution for detecting a new infestation of NZMS. While our level of sample collection (i.e., three spatial replicates per site) is likely adequate to detect the presence of NZMS at a given site, we recommend collecting eDNA samples two or more times per year to improve early detection monitoring at National Fish Hatcheries.

Conclusion

This project provides estimates of detection probability for two survey methods to aid early detection and monitoring of invasive NZMS, as well as examines spatial and temporal patterns and differences in occupancy and detection probability of NZMS among aquatic systems. An efficient and reliable AIS detection and monitoring program is critically important for NFH in the Columbia Basin and elsewhere as they face the ongoing threat of invasive species introductions that could potentially threaten infrastructure, increase maintenance costs, and adversely impact routine hatchery operations. This study adds to the growing body of work that demonstrates the effectiveness of eDNA as an AIS early detection and monitoring tool and highlights the importance of understanding the relative strengths and weaknesses of our survey methods to improve detection of NZMS in occupied areas. Our results lend more support to suggest that traditional sampling methods such as visual surveys, work well to document occurrence, habitat use, and abundance of a target organism at a localized scale, while eDNA can potentially detect the presence of the target organism both locally and upstream from the sample location and may be especially valuable when abundance is low and distribution is patchy

(Civade et al. 2016; Deiner et al. 2016; Nakagawa et al. 2018; Wood et al. 2021). Additional research to better understand detection probability of these tools under different environmental conditions, for different invasive species, and at different species densities will allow us to adaptively manage our sampling approaches and ensure our procedures are sufficient to detect a potential invasion of NZMS at lower Columbia River NFHs. This study could help guide similar AIS monitoring programs make informed decisions regarding field sampling techniques and the effort needed to reliably detect high-risk invaders.

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge and thank Donna Allard, Chanice Davies, Sean Fitzmaurice, Christine Ford, Hailey Gerdts, Kevin Hauser, Melody Hollar, Kayla Kelley, Eric McOmie, Courtney Newlon, Doug Olsen, Venecia Rollins, Jamie Sprando, Anna Uusitalo and Ywj Pheej Yang for assistance with eDNA and visual surveys, Caren Goldberg and the WSU genetics laboratory for technical guidance and eDNA sample processing, and the Region 1 USFWS office for financial support.

Literature Cited

- Akre, T. S., L. D. Parker, E. Ruther, J. E. Maldonado, L. Lemmon, N. R. McInerney. 2019. Concurrent visual encounter sampling validates eDNA selectivity and sensitivity for the endangered wood turtle (*Glyptemys insculpta*). PLoS ONE 14(4): e0215586. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0215586.
- Alonso, A. and P. Castro-Díez. 2008. What explains the invading success of the aquatic mud snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Hydrobiidae, Mollusca)? Hydrobiologia 614:107-116. doi:10.1007/s10750-008-9529-3.
- ANSTF (Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force) and National Invasive Species Council. 2007. National management and control plan for the New Zealand mudsnail (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*). Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force. Available at http://www.anstaskforce.gov/control.php (accessed December 2014).
- Barnes, M. A., C. R. Turner, C. L. Jerde, M. A. Renshaw, W. L. Chadderton, and D. M. Lodge. 2014. Environmental Conditions Influence eDNA Persistence in Aquatic Systems. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48:1819-1827. doi:10.1021/es404734p.
- Beentjes K.K., A. G. C. L. Speksnijder, M. Schilthuizen, M. Hoogeveen, B. B. van der Hoorn. 2019. The effects of spatial and temporal replicate sampling on eDNA metabarcoding. PeerJ 7:e7335. doi:10.7717/peerj.7335.

Benson, A.J., R.M. Kipp, J. Larson, and A. Fusaro. 2022. Potamopyrgus antipodarum (J.E.

Gray, 1853): U.S. Geological Survey, Nonindigenous Aquatic Species Database, Gainesville, FL, <u>https://nas.er.usgs.gov/queries/factsheet.aspx?SpeciesID=1008</u>. Revision Date: 10/22/2021. Access Date: 2/15/2022.

- Bowler, P. A. 1991. The rapid spread of the freshwater Hydrobiid snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Gray) in the Middle Snake River, Southern Idaho. Proceedings of the Desert Fishes Council 21:173-182.
- Bowler, P. A. and T. J. Frest. 1992. The non-native snail fauna of the Middle Snake River, Southern Idaho. Proceedings of the Desert Fishes Council 23:28-44.
- Bracken F. S. A., S. M. Rooney, M. Kelly-Quinn, J. J. King, and J. Carlsson. 2018. Identifying spawning sites and other critical habitat in lotic systems using eDNA "snapshots": A case study using the sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus L. Ecology and Evolution. 9:553-567. doi:10:1002/ece3.4777.
- Brenneis, V. E. F., A. Sih, C. E. de Rivera. 2011. Integration of an invasive consumer into an estuarine food web: direct and indirect effects of the New Zealand mud snail. Oecologia 167:169-179. doi:10.1007/s00442-011-1962-8.
- Bruce, R. L. 2006. Methods of Fish Depuration to Control New Zealand Mudsnail's at Fish Hatcheries. Master's thesis, University of Idaho. ResearchGate. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Christine-</u> <u>Moffitt/publication/265246669_Methods_of_Fish_Depuration_to_Control_New_Zealand</u> <u>Mudsnails_at_Fish_Hatcheries/links/54da34100cf2970e4e7e81a1/Methods-of-Fish-</u> Depuration-to-Control-New-Zealand-Mudsnails-at-Fish-Hatcheries.pdf
- Bruce, R. L., C. M. Moffitt, and B. Dennis. 2009. Survival and Passage of Ingested New Zealand Mudsnail through the Intestinal Tract of Rainbow Trout. North American Journal of Aquaculture 71:287-301. doi:10.1577/A08-033.1.
- Butkus, R. and V. Rakauskas. 2020. Experimental evidence that the invasive snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Gray, 1843) survives passage through the digestive tract of common riverine fish. Management of Biological Invasions 11(1):96-104. doi:10.3391/mbi.2020.11.1.07.
- Cheng, Y. W. and L. L. LeClair. 2011. A quantitative evaluation of the effect of freezing temperatures on the survival of New Zealand mudsnails (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum* Gray, 1843) in Olympia Washington's Capitol Lake. Aquatic Invasions 6(1):47-54. doi:10.3391/ai.2011.6.1.06.
- Chucholl, F., F. Fiolka, G. Segelbacher, L. Saskia. 2021. eDNA Detection of Native and Invasive Crayfish Species Allows for Year-Round Monitoring and Large-Scale Screening of Lotic Systems. Front. Environ. Sci. 9:639380. doi:10.3389/fenvs.2021.639380.

Civade, R., T. Dejean, A. Valentini, N. Roset, J. Raymond, A. Bonin, P. Taberlet, D. Pont. 2016.

Spatial Representativeness of Environmental DNA Metabarcoding Signal for Fish Biodiversity Assessment in a Natural Freshwater System. PLoS ONE 11(6): e0157366. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0157366.

- Clusa, L., A. Ardura, F. Gower, L. Miralles, V. Tsartsianidou, A. Zaiko, E. Garcia-Vazquez. 2016. An Easy Phylogenetically Informative Method to Trace the Globally Invasive *Potamopyrgus* Mud Snail from River's eDNA. PLoS ONE 11(10): e0162899. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0162899.
- Coulter, D. P., P. Wang, A. A. Coulter, G. E. Van Susteren, J. J. Eichmiller, J. E. Garvey, and P. W. Sorensen. 2019. Nonlinear relationship between Silver Carp density and their eDNA concentration in a large river. PLoS ONE 14(6):e0218823. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0218823.
- Cowart, D. A., M. A. Renshaw, C. A. Gantz, J. Umek, S. Chandra, S. P. Egan, D. M. Lodge, E. R. Larson. 2018. Development and field validation of an environmental DNA (eDNA) assay for invasive clams of the genus *Corbicula*. Management of Biological Invasions. Volume 9, Issue 1: 27-37. doi:10.3391/mbi.2018.9.1.03.
- Curtis, A. N., J. S. Tiemann, S. A. Douglass, M. A. Davis, E. R. Larson. 2020. High stream flows dilute environmental DNA (eDNA) concentrations and reduce detectability. Diversity and Distributions 27:1918-1931. doi:10.1111/ddi.13196.
- Davison, P. I., G. H. Copp, V. Créach, L. Vilizzi, and J. R. Britton. 2017. Application of environmental DNA analysis to inform invasive fish eradication operations. Sci Nat 104:35. doi:10.1007/s00114-017-1453-9.
- Deiner, K., F. Altermatt. 2014. Transport Distance of Invertebrate Environmental DNA in a Natural River. PLoS ONE 9(2):e88786, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0088786.
- Deiner, K., E. A. Fronhofer, E. Mächler, J. Walser, F. Altermatt. 2016. Environmental DNA reveals that rivers are conveyer belts of biodiversity information. Nature Communications 7:12544. doi:10.1038/ncomms12544.
- Doi, H., R. Inui, Y. Akamatsu, K. Kanno, H. Yamanaka, T. Takahara, and T. Minamoto. 2017. Environmental DNA analysis for estimating the abundance and biomass of stream fish. Freshwater Biology 62:30-39. doi:10.0000/fwb.12846.
- Eiler, A., A. Löfgren, O. Hjerne, S. Nordén, and P. Saetre. 2018. Environmental DNA (eDNA) detects the pool frog (*Pelophylax lessonae*) at times when traditional monitoring methods are insensitive. Scientific Reports 8:5452. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-23740-5.
- Ely T., P. H. Barber, L. Man, Z Gold. 2021. Short-lived detection of an introduced vertebrate eDNA signal in a nearshore rocky reef environment. PLoS ONE 16(6): e0245314. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245314.
- Gangloff, M. M. 1998. The New Zealand mud snail in Western North America. Aquatic Nuisance Species Digest 2:25-30.

- Gasparini, L., S. Crookes, R. S. Prosser, R. Hanner. 2020. Detection of freshwater mussels (Unionidae) using environmental DNA in riverine systems. Environmental DNA 2:321-329. doi:10.1002/edn3.71.
- Geist, J. A., J. L. Mancuso, M. M. Morin, K. P. Bommarito, E. N. Bovee, D. Wendell, B. Burroughs, M. R. Luttenton, D. L. Strayer and S. D. Tiegs. 2022. The New Zealand mud snail (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*): autocology and management of a global invader. Biological Invasions 24:905-938. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-021-2681-7</u>.
- Gelman, A., and Hill. J. 2007. Data analysis using regression and multilevel/hierarchical models. New York, New York: Cambridge University Press, 625 pp.
- Goldberg, C. S., D. S. Pilliod, R. S. Arkle, L. P. Waits. 2011. Molecular Detection of Vertebrates in Stream Water: A Demonstration Using Rocky Mountain Tailed Frogs and Idaho Giant Salamanders. PLoS ONE 6(7): e22746. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022746.
- Goldberg, C. S., A. Sepulveda, A. Ray, J. Baumgardt and L. P. Waits. 2013. Environmental DNA As a new method for early detection of New Zealand mudsnails (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*). Freshwater Science 32(3):792-800, doi:10.1899/13-046.1.
- Goldberg, C. S. and K Strickler. 2017. eDNA Protocol for Sample Collection. Washington State University and University of Idaho collaborative report.
- Goldberg, C.S., C.R. Turner, K. Deiner, K.E. Klymus, P.F. Thomsen, M.A. Murphy, S.F. Spear,
 A. McKee, S.J. Oyler-McCance, R.S. Cornman, M.B. Laramie, A.R. Mahon, R.F. Lance,
 D.S. Pilliod, K.M. Strickler, L.P. Waits, A.K. Fremier, T. Takahara, J.E. Herder, and P.
 Taberlet. 2016. Critical considerations for the application of environmental DNA
 methods to detect aquatic species. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7:1299-1307. doi: 10.0000/2041-210X.12595.
- Hall, R. O., J. L. Tank and M. F. Dybdahl. 2003. Exotic snails dominate nitrogen and carbon Cycling in a highly productive stream. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 1(8): 407-411.
- Hall, R. O., M. F. Dybdahl and M. C. VanderLoop. 2006. Extremely High Secondary Production Of Introduced Snails In Rivers. Ecological Applications 16(3): 1121-1131.
- Harvey, C. T., S. A. Qureshi and H. J. MacIsaac. 2009. Detection of a colonizing, aquatic, non indigenous species. Diversity and Distributions 15:429-437.
- Herder, J. E., A. Valentini, E. Bellemain, T. Dejean, J.J.C.W. Van Delft, P. F. Thomsen, P. Taberlet. 2014. Environmental DNA a review of the possible applications for the detection of (invasive) species. Stichting RAVON, Nijmegen. Report 2014-111.
- Hinlo, R. P. 2018. Improving eDNA detection probabilities for monitoring aquatic species.

Doctoral dissertation, University of Canberra. https://researchsystem.canberra.edu.au/ws/portalfiles/portal/33682522/file

- Hulme, P. E. 2006. Beyond control: wider implications for the management of biological Invasions. Journal of Applied Ecology 43:835-847.
- Hunter M.E., S. J. Oyler-McCance, R. M. Dorazio, J. A. Fike, B. J. Smith, C. T. Hunter, R. N. Reed, K. M. Hart. 2015. Environmental DNA (eDNA) Sampling Improves Occurrence and Detection Estimates of Invasive Burmese Pythons. PLoS ONE 10(4): e0121655. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121655.
- Jane, S. F., T. M. Wilcox, K. S. McKelvey, M. K. Young, M. K. Schwartz, W. H. Lowe, B. H. Letcher and A. R. Whiteley. 2015. Distance, flow and PCR inhibition: eDNA dynamics in two headwater streams. Molecular Ecology Resources 15:216-227. doi:10.1111/1755-0998.12285.
- Jensen, M. R., E. E. Sigsgaard, M. de Paula Ávila, S. Agersnap, W. Brenner-Larsen, M. E. Sengupta, Y. Xing, P. R. Møller and P. F. Thomsen. 2022. Short-term temporal variation of coastal marine eDNA. Environmental DNA. 4:747-762. doi:10/1002/edn3.285.
- Jerde, C. L., W. L. Chadderton, A. R. Mahon, M. A. Renshaw, J. Corush, M. L. Budny, S. Mysorekar, D. M. Lodge. 2013. Detection of Asian Carp DNA as part of a Great Lakes basin-wide surveillance program. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 70:522-526. doi:10.1139/cjfas-2012-0478.
- Kellner, K. 2017. Package 'jagsUI'. A wrapper around 'rjags' to streamline 'JAGS' analyses. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/jagsUI/jagsUI.pdf
- Kéry, M., and Schaub, M. 2012. Bayesian population analysis using WinBUGS: a hierarchical perspective. Academic Press, Waltham, MA. 535 pp.
- Lam I. P. Y., Y-H Sung, J. J. Fong. 2022. Using eDNA techniques to find the endangered bigheaded turtle (*Platysternon megacephalum*). PLoS ONE 17(2): e0262015 <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0262015</u>.
- Laramie, M. B., D. S. Pilliod, C. S. Goldberg. 2015. Characterizing the distribution of an endangered salmonid using environmental DNA analysis. Biological Conservation 183:29-37. doi:10.1016/jbiocon.2014.11.025.
- Larson, M. D. and A. R. Black. 2016. Assessing interactions among native snails and the invasive New Zealand mud snail, *Potamopyrgus antipodarum*, using grazing experiments and stable isotope analysis. Hydrobiologia 763:147-159. doi:10.1007/s10750-015-2369-z.
- Litton, R. K. 2019. Youngs Bay Benthic Invertebrate Study. Report by Clatsop County Fisheries, Astoria, OR Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. 40 pp.

- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, J. A. Royle, K. H. Pollock, L. L. Bailey, and J. E. Hines. 2006. Occupancy estimation and modeling. Elsevier, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Moore, J. W., D. B. Herbst, W. N. Heady, S. M. Carlson. 2012. Stream community and ecosystem responses to the boom and bust of an invading snail. Biological Invasions 14:2435-2446. doi:10.1007/s10530-012-0240-y.
- Nakagawa, H., S. Yamamoto, Y. Sato, T. Sado, T. Minamoto, M. Miya. 2018. Comparing localand regional-scale estimations of the diversity of stream fish using eDNA metabarcoding and conventional observation methods. Freshwater Biology 63:569-580. doi:10.1111/fwb.13094.
- Nakano, D. and D. L. Strayer. 2014. Biofouling animals in fresh water: biology, impacts, and ecosystem engineering. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2014; 12(3): 167-175, doi:10.1890/130071.
- Oplinger, R. P., P. Brown, and J. Wagner. 2009. Effect of Sodium Chloride, Tricaine Methanesulfonate, and Light on New Zealand Mud Snail Behavior, Survival of Snails Defecated from Rainbow Trout, and Effects of Epsom Salt on Snail Elimination. North American Journal of Aquaculture 71(2)157-164. doi:10.1577/A08-027.1.
- Oplinger, R., P. Brown, E. Wagner, M. Durfey, E. VanDyke, and T. Howick. 2011. Research and Efforts Placed into Removing New Zealand Mud Snails from the Loa State Fish Hatchery. Utah Division of Wildlife Resources, Salt Lake City, Utah. Publication Number 11-25.
- Peterson, J. T. and J. Dunham. 2003. Combining inferences from models of capture efficiency, detectability, and suitable habitat to classify landscapes for conservation of threatened Bull Trout. Conservation Biology 17(4): 1070-1077.
- Pilliod, D. S., C. S. Goldberg, R. S. Arkle and L. P. Waits. 2013. Estimating occupancy and Abundance of stream amphibians using environmental DNA from filtered water samples. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 70:1123-1130. doi:10.1139/cjfas-2013-0047.
- Plummer, M. 2003. JAGS: a program for analysis of Bayesian graphical models using Gibbs sampling. *In* K. Hornik, F. Leisch, and A. Zeileis, editors. Proceedings of the 3rd International Workshop on Distributed Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Poirier, J. 2015. New Zealand Mudsnail Surveys at National Fish Hatcheries within the Lower Columbia River Basin 2015. Columbia River Fisheries Program Office.
- Poirier, J. 2017. New Zealand Mudsnail Surveys at National Fish Hatcheries within the Lower Columbia River Basin 2016. Columbia River Fisheries Program Office.

Poirier, J. and J. Harris. 2019. Aquatic Invasive Species Monitoring at Lower Columbia River

Basin National Fish Hatcheries using eDNA and Visual Surveys. Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office 2018 Annual Report.

- Ponce, J. J., I. Arismendi, A. Thomas. 2021. Using *in-situ* environmental DNA sampling to detect the invasive New Zealand Mud Snail (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*) in freshwaters. *PeerJ* 9:e11835. doi:10.7717/peerj.11835.
- Rakauskas V., E. Šidagytė, V. Kesminas, O. Kaminskas. 2018. Can the invasive New Zealand mud snail (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*) threaten fisheries of temperate lakes? A case study from Lake Dusia, Lithuania. Acta Ichthyol. Piscat. 48 (1): 37–49. doi:10.3750/AIEP/02261.
- R Core Team. 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, URL: hppt://www.R-project.org (February 2015).
- Richards, D. C., P. O'Connell, and D. C. Shinn. 2004. Simple Control Method to Limit Spread of New Zealand mudsnail, *Potamopyrgus antipodarum*. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 24:114-117. doi:10.1577/M02-133.
- Romero-Blanco A, Á. Alonso. 2019. Tolerance assessment of the aquatic invasive snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* to different post-dispersive conditions: implications for its invasive success. NeoBiota 44: 57–73. https://doi.org/10.3897/ neobiota.44.31840.
- Rourke M. L. A. M. Fowler, J. M. Hughes, M. K. Broadhurst, J. D. DiBattista, S. Fielder, J. W. Walburn, and E. M. Furlan. 2021. Environmental DNA (eDNA) as a tool for assessing fish biomass: A review of approaches and future considerations for resource surveys. Environmental DNA 4:9-33. doi:10.1002/edn3.185.
- Rusch J. C., M. Mojžišova, D. A. Strand, J. Svobodova, T. Vralstad, A. Petrusek. 2020 Simultaneous detection of native and invasive crayfish and *Aphanomyces astaci* from environmental DNA samples in a wide range of habitats in Central Europe. NeoBiota 58: 1-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.3897/neobiota.58.49358</u>.
- Schisler, G. J., N. K. M. Vieira, and P. G. Walker. 2008. Application of Household Disinfectants to Control New Zealand Mudsnail. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 28(4):1172-1176. doi:10.1577/M07-028.1.
- Schmelzle, M. C. and A. P. Kinziger. 2016. Using occupancy modelling to compare environmental eDNA to traditional field methods for regional-scale monitoring of an endangered aquatic species. Molecular Ecology Resources 16:895-908. doi:10.0000/1755-0998.12501.
- Searcy, R. T., A. B. Boehm, C. Weinstock, C. M. Preston, S. Jensen, B. Roman, J. M. Birch, C. A. Scholin, K. S. Van Houtan, J. D. Kiernan and K. M. Yamahara. 2022. High-frequency and long-term observations of eDNA from imperiled salmonids in a coastal stream: Temporal dynamics, relationships with environmental factors, and comparisons with conventional observations. Environmental DNA. 4:776-789. doi:10/1002/edn3.293.

- Smart, A. S., R. Tingley, A. R. Weeks, A. R. van Rooyen and M. A. McCarthy. 2015. Environmental DNA sampling is more sensitive than a traditional survey technique for detecting an aquatic invader. Ecological Applications 25(7):1944-1952. doi:10.1890/14-1751.1.
- Srivathsa, A., M. Puri, N. Samba Kumar, D. Jathanna, and K. Ullas Karanth. 2018. Substituting space for time: Empirical evaluation of spatial replication as a surrogate for temporal replication in occupancy modeling. Journal of Applied Ecology 55:754–765.
- Stoeckle, B. C., S. Beggel, A. F. Cerwenka, E. Motivans, R. Kuehn, J. Geist. 2017. A systematic approach to evaluate the influence of environmental conditions on eDNA detection success in aquatic ecosystems. PLoS ONE 12(12): e0189119. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0189119.
- Strickler, K. M., A. K. Fremier, C. S. Goldberg. 2014. Quantifying effects of UV-B, temperature, And pH on eDNA degradation in aquatic micrososms. Biological Conservation 183:85-92. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.038.
- Tank, S. N., S. J. Herbst, and D. B. Hayes. 2021. Evaluation of a qualitative survey for early detection monitoring of New Zealand mudsnail. Biol Invasions 23:3263-3274. doi:10.1007/s10530-021-02576-7.
- Thomas, A. C., S. Tank, P. L. Nguyen, J. Ponce, M. Sinnesael, C. S. Goldberg. 2019. A system for rapid eDNA detection of aquatic invasive species. *Environmental DNA*. 2020;2:261-270. doi:10.1002/edn3.25.
- Tillotson, M. D., R. P. Kelly, J. J. Duda, M. Hoy, J. Kralj, T. P. Quinn. 2018. Concentrations of environmental DNA (eDNA) reflect spawning salmon abundance at fine spatial and temporal scales. Biological Conservation 220:1-11. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2018.01.030.
- Troth, C. R., M. J. Sweet, J. Nightingale, A. Burian. 2021. Seasonality, eDNA degradation and spatial heterogeneity as drivers of eDNA detection dynamics. Science of the Total Environment 768:144466. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144466.
- Vinson, M. and M. Baker. 2008. Poor Growth of Rainbow Trout Fed New Zealand Mud Snails *Potamopyrgus antipodarum*. North American Journal of fisheries Management 28:701-709. doi:10.1577/M06-039.1.
- Whittington, J., K. Heuer, M. Hebblewhite, and P. M. Lukacs. 2015. Estimating occupancy using spatially and temporally replicated snow surveys. Animal Conservation 18:92–101.
- Wilcox, T.M., K.S. McKelvey, M.K. Young, A.J. Sepulveda, B.B. Shepard, S.F. Jane, A.R.
 Whiteley, W.H. Lowe, and M.K. Schwartz. 2016. Understanding environmental DNA detection probabilities: A case study using a stream-dwelling char *Salvelinus fontinalis*.
 Biological Conservation 194:209-216. Doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2015.12.023.

Wineland, S. M., R. F. Arrick, S. M. Welch, T. K. Pauley, J. J. Mosher, J. J. Apodaca, M.

Olszack, J. N. Holmes, J. L. Waldron. 2019. Environmental DNA improves Eastern Hellbender (*Cryptobranchus alleganiensis alleganiensis*) detection over conventional sampling methods. Environmental DNA 1:86-96. doi:10.1002/edn3.9.

- Wood, Z. T., A. Lacoursière-Roussel, F. LeBlanc, M. Trudel, M. T. Kinnison, C. G. McBrine, S. A. Pavey, and N. Gagné. 2021. Spatial Heterogeneity of eDNA Transport Improves Stream Assessment of Threatened Salmon Presence, Abundance, and location. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9:650717. doi:10.3389/fevo.2021.650717.
- Woodell, J. D., M. Neiman, E. P. Levri. 2021. Matching a snail's pace: successful use of environmental DNA techniques to detect early stages of invasion by the destructive New Zealand mud snail. Biol Invasions 23:3263-3274. doi:10.1007/s10530-021-02576-7.
- Xing Y., W. Gao, Z. Shen, Y. Zhang, J. Bai, X. Cai, J. Ouyang and Y. Zhao. 2022. A Review of Environmental DNA Field and Laboratory Protocols Applied in Fish Ecology and Environmental Health. Front. Environ. Sci. 10:725360. doi:10.3389/fenvs.2022.725360.
- Zaranko, D. T., D. G. Farara and F.G. Thompson. 1997. Another exotic mollusk in the Laurentian Great Lakes: the New Zealand native *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Gray 1843) (Gastropoda, Hydrobiidae). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54:809-814.



Figure 1: Location of five waterbodies with known NZMS occupancy (red circles). Up to four sites were surveyed within these waterbodies using eDNA and visual surveys from 2015 to 2022.



Figure 2: Three sites sampled weekly for NZMS using eDNA in Burnt Bridge Creek between 8/21 and 9/19 in 2019.



Figure 3: Three sites sampled weekly for NZMS using eDNA in the Columbia/Kalama River between 8/21 and 9/19 in 2019.



Figure 4: Three sites sampled weekly for NZMS using eDNA in the lower Deschutes River between 8/19 and 9/16 in 2019.



Figure 5: Probability of occupancy (O) if New Zealand Mudsnails are not detected by an eDNA sample (blue solid line) or a visual survey (green solid line) in a large (upper panel) or small (lower panel) occupied waterbody by numbers of samples completed. Estimates of detection probability were produced using a two-level occupancy model. Dashed lines are 95% credible intervals on estimates of detection probability for eDNA samples (blue) and visual surveys (green).

Table 1: New Zealand mudsnail sample site locations, number of times sampled, eDNA and visual survey results and range of eDNA concentrations within positive eDNA sample replicates at five locations with known NZMS occupancy, 2015 to 2021. The Asterisks "*" indicates less than three eDNA sample replicates tested positive at a site.

| Year Sampled | Waterbody | Site | Easting NAD 83, UTM 10N | Northing NAD 83, UTM 10N | Number of Times Sampled | NZMS Observed? | NZMS eDNA Detected? | NZMS eDNA (copies/ml) |
|-----------------|-----------------------|--|-------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|
| 2015-2022 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Burnt Bridge Cr. Trail pedestrian bridge at 65th | 530788.83 | 5053521.00 | 8 | Yes | Yes | 0.18 - 146.42 |
| 2019, 2022 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Burnt Bridge Cr. Trail pedestrian bridge above Andresen | 531283.37 | 5053524.78 | 2 | No | Yes | 0.15 - 0.47 |
| 2019, 2022 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Burnt Bridge Cr. Trail pedestrian bridge below 86th Ave. | 532191.42 | 5053599.92 | 2 | Yes | Yes* | 0.18 - 0.33 |
| 2016 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Leverich Park pedestrian bridge | 526444.62 | 5055460.50 | 1 | No | Yes | 4.20 - 6.32 |
| 2017-2022 | Deschutes River | Under Celilo Highway | 662499.60 | 5055520.52 | 6 | No | Yes* | 0.14 - 0.88 |
| 2020-2021 | Deschutes River | Halfway between Celilo Hwy & Heritage boat launch | 662618.90 | 5055395.24 | 2 | No | Yes* | 0.32 - 0.90 |
| 2019, 2022 | Deschutes River | Heritage boat launch | 662675.81 | 5055305.63 | 2 | No | Yes* | 0.23, 0.26 |
| 2019, 2022 | Deschutes River | Fishing access point | 662855.59 | 5054970.32 | 2 | No | Yes* | 0.04, 0.33 |
| 2017-2022 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings N. of sportsmen's Club Boat Launch | 509635.25 | 5098452.27 | 6 | No | Yes* | 0.09 - 5.10 |
| 2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings to left of tree arch | 509636.44 | 5098559.43 | 1 | No | No | |
| 2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Next group of pilings downstream | 509601.91 | 5098670.95 | 1 | No | No | |
| 2020-2022 | Columbia/Kalama River | South end of sportsmen's Club property | 509931.00 | 5097852.00 | 3 | Yes (2021) | Yes* | 0.05 - 9.40 |
| 2022 | Columbia/Kalama River | Middle of sportsmen's Club property | 509759.61 | 5098221.13 | 1 | No | Yes | 0.08 - 0.11 |
| 2016, 2018 | Nestucca River | Boat launch outside Pacific City | 424560.24 | 5006341.28 | 2 | Yes (2018) | Yes | 1.66 - 20.76 |
| 2016-2018 | Young's Bay | Public boat ramp at Astoria Recreation Center | 435411.86 | 5113355.94 | 3 | Yes | Yes | 37.86 - 865.67 |

Table 2: Environmental DNA results and NZMS eDNA concentrations at nine sites sampled weekly in Burnt Bridge Creek, lower Deschutes River and Columbia/Kalama River between 8/21 and 9/19 in 2019.

| Site # | Date | Waterbody | Location | Replicate #1 NZMS eDNA copies/ml | Replicate #2 NZMS eDNA copies/ml | Replicate #3 NZMS eDNA copies/ml |
|--------|-----------|-----------------------|--|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| 1 | 8/21/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge at 65th | 7.59 | 7.28 | 11.54 |
| 1 | 8/28/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge at 65th | 5.46 | 5.55 | 8.59 |
| 1 | 9/4/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge at 65th | 10.31 | 5.77 | 11.07 |
| 2 | 8/21/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge above Andresen | 0.43 | 0.47 | 0.16 |
| 2 | 8/28/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge above Andresen | 0.27 | 0.32 | 0.16 |
| 2 | 9/4/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge above Andresen | 0.23 | 0.15 | 0.27 |
| 3 | 8/21/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge below 86th Ave. | | | |
| 3 | 8/28/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge below 86th Ave. | | | |
| 3 | 9/4/2019 | Burnt Bridge Creek | Pedestrian bridge below 86th Ave. | | | 0.14 |
| 1 | 8/21/2019 | Deschutes River | Under Celilo Hwy. | | | |
| 1 | 8/28/2019 | Deschutes River | Under Celilo Hwy. | | | 0.08 |
| 1 | 9/4/2019 | Deschutes River | Under Celilo Hwy. | 0.06 | | |
| 2 | 8/21/2019 | Deschutes River | Heritage boat launch | | | |
| 2 | 8/28/2019 | Deschutes River | Heritage boat launch | | | |
| 2 | 9/4/2019 | Deschutes River | Heritage boat launch | | | |
| 3 | 8/21/2019 | Deschutes River | Fishing access point | | | |
| 3 | 8/28/2019 | Deschutes River | Fishing access point | 0.04 | 0.05 | |
| 3 | 9/4/2019 | Deschutes River | Fishing access point | 0.13 | | |
| 1 | 8/21/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings N. of sportsmen's Club boat launch | | | |
| 1 | 8/28/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings N. of sportsmen's Club boat launch | | | 0.02 |
| 1 | 9/4/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings N. of sportsmen's Club boat launch | | | 0.05 |
| 2 | 8/21/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings to left of tree arch | | | |
| 2 | 8/28/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings to left of tree arch | | | |
| 2 | 9/4/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Pilings to left of tree arch | | | |
| 3 | 8/21/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Next group of pilings downstream | | | |
| 3 | 8/28/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Next group of pilings downstream | | | |
| 3 | 9/4/2019 | Columbia/Kalama River | Next group of pilings downstream | | | |

| Parameter | Estimate |
|---|----------------------|
| Intercept for site occupancy (α_0) | 6.89 (1.43 - 9.79) |
| Intercept for detection by eDNA (α_1) | 0.80 (0.12 – 1.51) |
| Intercept for detection by visual survey (α_2) | -1.39 (-3.060.03) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Burnt Bridge) | 3.58 (-5.08 - 9.68) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Nestucca) | 2.47 (-7.02 - 9.62) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Youngs Bay) | 0 |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Kalama mouth) | -6.76 (-9.761.14) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Deschutes) | -4.63 (-8.80 - 7.48) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Burnt Bridge | 1.00 (0.94 – 1.00) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Nestucca | 1.00 (0.65 - 1.00) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Youngs Bay | 1.00 (0.81 - 1.00) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Kalama mouth | 0.53 (0.25 - 0.81) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Deschutes | 0.82 (0.51 - 1.00) |

Table 3: Parameter estimates with 95% confidence intervals (in parentheses) for the twolevel occupancy model to estimate detection probability of New Zealand Mudsnails sampled by eDNA grabs and visual surveys.

Table 4: Parameter estimates with 95% confidence intervals (in parentheses) for the threelevel occupancy model to estimate spatial and temporal patterns in detection probability of New Zealand Mudsnails sampled by eDNA grabs.

| Parameter | Estimate |
|---|----------------------|
| Intercept for site occupancy (α_0) | 3.93 (-0.80 - 9.61) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Burnt Bridge) | 4.01 (-5.57 – 9.70) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Kalama mouth) | -3.24 (-9.56 - 8.41) |
| Slope for effect for stream (B_0 Deschutes) | 0 |
| Probability of site occupancy in Burnt Bridge | 1.00 (0.72 - 1.00) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Kalama mouth | 0.47 (0.03 - 1.00) |
| Probability of site occupancy in Deschutes | 0.98 (0.31 - 1.00) |

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Columbia River Fish and Wildlife Conservation Office 1211 SE Cardinal Court, Suite 100 Vancouver, WA 98683



January 2024 www.fws.gov/columbiariver